CANCER-ASSOCIATED CACHEXIA AND UNDERLYING BIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS

Vickie E. Baracos

Department of Oncology, University of Alberta, Cross Cancer Institute, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, T6G 1Z2; email: vickieb@cancerboard.ab.ca

Key Words involuntary weight loss, anorexia, catabolism

■ **Abstract** Cancer metastases (spread to distant organs from the primary tumor site) signify systemic, progressive, and essentially incurable malignant disease. Anorexia and wasting develop continuously throughout the course of incurable cancer. Overall, in Westernized countries nearly exactly half of current cancer diagnoses end in cure and the other half end in death; thus, cancer-associated cachexia has a high prevalence. The pathophysiology of cancer-associated cachexia has two principal components: a failure of food intake and a systemic hypermetabolism/hypercatabolism syndrome. The superimposed metabolic changes result in a rate of depletion of physiological reserves of energy and protein that is greater than would be expected based on the prevailing level of food intake. These features indicate a need for nutritional support, metabolic management, and a clear appreciation of the context of life-limiting illness.

CONTENTS

LITERATURE ON CANCER-ASSOCIATED CACHEXIA	430
CACHEXIA: DEFINITIONS OF THE TERM	437
THE CONTEXT: NUTRITION IN ADVANCED	
MALIGNANT DISEASE	438
A Consideration of Nutritional Aims Across	
the Disease Trajectory	438
NUTRITION IN THE END OF LIFE	439
Decline and Cessation of Voluntary Food Intake;	
Loss of Appetite	439
Gastrointestinal Failure: Malignant Bowel Obstruction	440
Decision Making About Aggressive Nutritional	
Support in the End of Life	440
UNDERLYING BIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS	
OF INVOLUNTARY WEIGHT LOSS IN CANCER PATIENTS	
Factors Inhibiting Consumption of Food	441
A Dysregulation of Controls of Appetite	
and Perceived Satiety	441
Excessive or Early Satiety	
THE NUTRITION IMPACT SYMPTOMS	443

Chronic Nausea and Chemosensory Abnormalities	444
Cancer Inflammation-Hypercatabolism Syndrome	445
Tumor-Derived Catabolic Factors: A Proteolysis-Inducing Glycoprotein	446
Proteolysis: Activation of Proteolytic Pathways	446
ANTICACHEXIA THERAPIES	447
Current Standards of Care	447
Principles of Anorexia-Cachexia Therapy	447
Some Areas of Cachexia Therapy in Development	449
Appetite Stimulants	449
Nutritional Supplements	451
Anti-Inflammatory Therapy	451
Anabolic Agents	452
Drug Targets in Downstream Proteolytic Pathways	452
CONCLUSIONS	452

LITERATURE ON CANCER-ASSOCIATED CACHEXIA

A review of current biomedical literature databases using the term "cachexia" and synonym search terms reveals more than 1600 articles since 1999 that addressed some issue related to cachexia (of any disease). About 40% of the 400 citations related to cancer cachexia consist of brief reviews or commentaries; few large, comprehensive, evidence-based reviews of the cancer cachexia literature currently exist. An article on nutrition in bone marrow transplantation is to be found in the Cochrane library (116), as is a review of megestrol acetate in anorexia-cachexia therapy (18). Another systematic review of anorexia-cachexia therapy recently appeared (161).

Of the original scientific investigations represented in the cancer cachexia literature, half were conducted in laboratory animals and the other half in humans. The work in animal models is especially suited to the study of the underlying biological mechanisms and will be important for the rational development and preclinical investigation of cachexia therapy. However, we continue to emphasize (5, 7) that the lack of a consensus set of animal models for investigations into metabolism and nutrition in cancer is an impediment to current understanding. These models must be demonstrated to align with the corresponding cachexia phenotypes evident in humans, and rigorous and standardized monitoring of physical, physiological, metabolic, nutritional, and behavioral paradigms for the various animal models must be developed.

Clinical research on cancer cachexia includes investigations of possible mechanisms and mediators as well as randomized clinical trials of anticachexia therapies. Interestingly, this research emanates largely from oncology teams. Although the nutrition research community possesses a large potential and capacity for research related to cachexia, we found it striking that, for example, less than 5% of articles published by nutrition researchers in our own country (Canada) during the past six years were related to cancer in any context, and the majority of these were related to cancer prevention and not to the nutritional sequelae of cancer. This would

appear to constitute an opportunity for nutrition research, given the degree to which nutrition appears to be implicated in both cancer incidence and cancer progression.

CACHEXIA: DEFINITIONS OF THE TERM

There is no universally accepted definition for cachexia. Features of a "syndrome of cachexia" are often used to evoke a portrait of the problem and its context of advanced malignant disease. Here cachexia is usually expressed as a constellation of factors contributing to the problem (i.e., anorexia, chemosensory distortion, early satiety, and hypermetabolism) or outcomes (i.e., wasting, asthenia, dyspnea, anemia, psychosocial distress, and dependency upon others). This captures the context and conveys a sense of the suffering, but it is not a strict definition.

Cachexia is synonymous with emaciation and is embodied in the apt term "skin and bones." Cachexia may be best defined as a state of depletion; ideally, one would like to quantify this specifically. A classification of underweight using defined agerelated cutoff points for body mass index (BMI) might be considered satisfactory; however, the depletion of adipose and lean tissues clearly merit separate consideration. Muscle wasting can coexist with depletion of adipose tissue but may also coexist with obesity. A definition of cachexia would entail the identification of a threshold level of physiological reserves of energy, protein, or both, below which significant impairment or risk occurred. No such explicit definition is currently in use.

In relation to skeletal muscle depletion, researchers on human body composition are attempting to formally define sarcopenia, a generic term for the loss of skeletal muscle mass. It has been suggested that sarcopenia may be defined as values less than two standard deviations below the sex-specific mean for relative skeletal muscle index [muscle mass (kg) divided by stature squared (kg/m²)] in healthy, younger adults. The limiting levels of skeletal muscle, by these criteria, are <7.26 kg/m² for men and <5.45 kg/m² in women (13, 14). Another approach used to define sarcopenia has been to test the prognostic significance of different levels of relative skeletal muscle index for clinical outcomes relevant to the patient population in question. Definitions of sarcopenia in the elderly focus on its prognostic significance for functional problems in gait and balance, risk of falls, and inability to complete tasks of daily living (15, 75), whereas definitions of sarcopenia in hospitalized patients focus on outcomes such as length of stay and rates of infectious and noninfectious complications (90). The prognostic significance of skeletal muscle and adipose tissue depletion in relation to cancer-specific outcomes remains to be determined.

The term "cachexia" is sometimes used to describe the dynamic process of involuntary weight loss that leads to depletion of physiological reserves of protein and energy. The process of weight loss is not, per se, cachexia; however, it is important because weight loss is related to the period over which an individual may be expected to become cachectic. The intensity of muscle loss and of negative

energy balance as well as the initial size of adipose tissue reserves and skeletal muscle define the risk of becoming cachectic during a defined period. During weight loss, individuals will pass through the zone conventionally referred to as "healthy" or "ideal" body weight and body composition. However, depending on the intensity of weight loss, severe depletion will be either imminent or will eventually occur; this situation is neither healthy nor ideal. Various perspectives exist on how to classify this involuntary weight loss. At this time, the classifications concern weight and do not separately discriminate rates of muscle and fat loss. The classic work of DeWys et al. (45) defined weight loss >5% prior to the onset of chemotherapy as the defining point for risk of poor response to therapy and shortened survival, independent of stage of malignancy or performance status. The National Cancer Institute's Common Toxicity Criteria (118), used widely for the definition of cancer- and cancer therapy-associated toxicity specific for weight loss, define the total degree of loss relative to prior body weight as follows: Grade 0, <5% loss; Grade 1, 5%–10%; Grade 2, 10%–20%; and Grade 3, >20%. Grade 4 (life-threatening) toxicity is not defined. Taking into account that 5% loss has been clearly demonstrated to be associated with poor outcome and the fact that 20% loss would be fatal in some individuals, these criteria seem considerably underweighted. In another perspective on intensity (loss per time), Blackburn et al. (20) suggest that losses of >2% in one week, >5% in one month, >7.5% in three months, and >10\% in six months would be considered severe. That none of the foregoing classifications are commonly agreed upon is an important problem because until there is a widely accepted classification for involuntary tissue loss, there can be no common basis for action.

All of the attempts to classify and to evaluate relative risks of body energy and protein reserves and of rates of weight loss are confounded by a very wide distribution of body compositions in cancer patients. At the comprehensive cancer center where the author is active, the body mass index of newly referred patients at the time of diagnosis of metastatic cancer of the lung or gastrointestinal tract (n = 1500) typically ranges from 13 to 51, with a population mean of 25.5; although 8% of these present with a BMI < 18.5, 18% have a BMI > 30. This distribution increasingly encompasses obese individuals as a result of the overall trend for increased body weight in westernized countries and the fact that certain cancers, such as colorectal, breast, and prostate (56), are up to twice as prevalent in obese as in normal-weight individuals. It seems less likely that fat mass will be an independent predictor of outcome when energy reserves are substantial (139).

THE CONTEXT: NUTRITION IN ADVANCED MALIGNANT DISEASE

A Consideration of Nutritional Aims Across the Disease Trajectory

The nutritionist must appreciate the course of malignant disease and its treatment, and this understanding can be informed by close collaboration with specialists

in oncology and palliative care medicine. In westernized countries, nearly exactly half of current cancer diagnoses end in cure; the other half end in death. Where cure is the outcome, nutritional problems are largely transient and reversible. Incurable disease is the situation in which the most frequent and severe malnutrition and wasting occur, and it is the focus of this review.

Disease and treatment generate a large number of symptoms that affect nutritional status (122). Treatment options for the disease comprise systemic chemotherapy, surgery, and radiation. Nutritional issues related to therapy are considerable, and correction of nutritional status may be considered preoperatively or prior to radiation or chemotherapy. All antineoplastic treatments have nutritional consequences, either because they add a nutritional demand or because they have side effects that limit dietary intake. All of these treatments invoke damage to normal tissues, requiring repair; they also have powerful side effects that limit eating, such as diarrhea, oral mucositis, nausea, and vomiting. Nutritional objectives during treatment may include restoration or prevention of further erosion of body condition and support of physical and physiological function (i.e., immune function, wound healing, activities of daily living), as well as mitigation of the effects of treatment. Nutritional intervention could be early and proactive to prevent malnutrition, emaciation, and starvation from becoming dominating features of the disease trajectory, in the cases where these are preventable.

At later stages, palliation becomes the central theme of care (4). The focus of nutrition support for the patient shifts away from physiological and functional outcomes to improvement of food enjoyment and quality of life as well as assisting the patient and family in accepting the cessation of appetite and feeding. It is appropriate to develop nutritional support within the context of the palliative care overall and of the wishes of the patient and family. The decision to treat symptoms of cancer cachexia should be based on the patient's desires and current medical condition. The choice of the most appropriate agent for this treatment should include consideration of effects on appetite, weight, quality of life, and risk of adverse effects according to current evidence-based medicine, and cost and availability of the agent.

NUTRITION IN THE END OF LIFE

Decline and Cessation of Voluntary Food Intake; Loss of Appetite

Malnutrition from anorexia and reduced nutrient intake is common in patients with cancer. In animal models (see, e.g., 146), spontaneous food intake shows progressive decline on a tumor-specific time scale. A given tumor burden may be associated with varying degrees of anorexia in different models, and such differences may be accounted for by a varying neurohormonal response stimulated by the tumor. Cancer anorexia in humans manifests as a progressively diminishing and eventual total loss of the unconscious impetus to eat. Preparation and consumption

of meals lose most of their pleasurable qualities. In addition, patients rarely crave specific foods and experience little spontaneous food ideation. Cancer-associated anorexia becomes both total and irreversible at some stage of the disease trajectory.

The psychological dimensions of the cancer anorexia experience from the perspective of terminally ill patients and their family members are important. Anorexia is not in itself necessarily distressful to patients; however, its logical, long-term consequences (i.e., weakness and starvation) are distressful, and this is especially pronounced for family members (110). Family members may press the patient to eat, and although this may be done in the sincere belief that it is in the patient's best interest and that it constitutes a means of fighting back or exerting control over the disease, this may become a considerable source of conflict between the patient and family (110). The ability to provide psychosocial support to patients and families requires that caregivers appreciate the psychological effect of cancer anorexia and cachexia on these individuals.

Gastrointestinal Failure: Malignant Bowel Obstruction

Malignant bowel obstruction is a complication that halts food consumption. Obstruction is common in cancers affecting the bowel or abdominal area. The frequency of obstruction has been reported to range from 4% to 24% in colorectal cancer and 5% to 42% in ovarian cancer. This problem was evaluated and reviewed systematically by a working group of the European Association for Palliative Care (132). Surgical therapies are available and can offer good outcomes in selected patients (86). Self-expanding metallic stents are an important addition to the treatment of large bowel obstruction (123). Nonetheless, malignant bowel obstructions remain a challenging problem for surgeons and carry high risks of morbidity and mortality. There are many contraindications to surgical therapy (132), and many patients are poor operative candidates. Treatment of these patients may include palliative medical measures such as analgesics, antisecretory drugs, and antiemetics, used alone or in combination to relieve symptoms (79, 112).

Decision Making About Aggressive Nutritional Support in the End of Life

It is important for any caregiver involved in decisions related to aggressive nutritional intervention in patients with advanced cancer to keep aware of the current state of evidence concerning prognostication in this patient group (105). Some appreciation of life expectancy is required for the nutritionist to negotiate comfortably within the different phases of advanced malignant disease. A case in point may be made for parenteral nutrition, as all available clinical practice guidelines for initiation of parenteral feeding in advanced cancer patients are explicitly based on an expected survival of the order of months (113). The intent is to feed parenterally when the patient would be expected to die of starvation before any other consequences of their disease became life limiting. Many months and even years of life can be supported with parenteral feeding, with excellent quality of life

(25, 49, 70). By contrast, it is undesirable to institute parenteral feeding in patients close to death, as this encumbers them with infusion apparatus and high costs, and exposes them to risks of catheter placement and infection in a context where they have little to gain from nutritional support. This would tend to occur in cases in which the care team overestimated survival, and various reports (36, 61) suggest that the prediction of survival by physicians was inaccurate and tended to be overly optimistic. The difficulty of accurately predicting survival is acknowledged (113) as one of the most difficult aspects of choosing appropriate patients for parenteral nutritional support.

UNDERLYING BIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS OF INVOLUNTARY WEIGHT LOSS IN CANCER PATIENTS

Several dominant themes are evident in our understanding of the mediation of the cachexias of cancer and other diseases. First, it is clear that a trio of influences supports normal anabolic processes: a dietary supply of energy fuels and substrates, an anabolic endocrine environment, and the trophic effects of physical activity are additionally required for skeletal muscle anabolism. In healthy persons, deficits in these elements of anabolic environment cause wasting, and different types of cachexia are generally associated with failure of anabolic competency, with anorexia being a dominant feature, accompanied by endocrine changes and physical inactivity. Second, whereas starvation and chronic malnutrition are associated with adaptive decreases in metabolic rate and increased economy of energy fuel utilization, cancer cachexia is characterized by hypermetabolism (22, 76) and activation of catabolic pathways. The superimposed metabolic changes result in a rate of depletion of physiological reserves of energy and protein that is greater than would be expected based on the prevailing level of food intake.

Factors Inhibiting Consumption of Food

Dietary intakes of patients with advanced malignant disease have been reported (11, 12, 22, 46, 52). Average dietary intakes are close to reported basal metabolic rates (i.e., 22–24 kcal/kg/day), while intakes >35 kcal/kg body weight are required for weight maintenance (46). A significant number of patients consume less energy than required to cover even the basal costs of metabolism. Low intakes are associated with altered perceptions of appetite and satiety as well as a number of symptoms and side effects of treatments that constitute barriers to food intake.

A Dysregulation of Controls of Appetite and Perceived Satiety

Loss of appetite—anorexia—is one of the most frequently reported symptoms associated with cancer. Regulation of appetite is understood to result from a synthesis of orexigenic and anorexigenic factors, comprising peripheral metabolic signals to the brain (i.e., leptin, insulin, peptide YY, ghrelin, cytokines, and lipid mediators), as well as signaling of the metabolic sensors in the brainstem and hypothalamus [i.e., neuropeptide Y, serotonin, and melanocortin peptides (26, 93, 94, 127, 129, 131)]. These central and peripheral signals have been explored in animal models of cancer cachexia. It is clear from the available evidence that cancer anorexia is multifactorial and involves most of the neuronal signaling pathways modulating energy intake. The influence of anorexigenic factors such as serotonin and α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone is dominant, while the opposing or exigenic action of neuropeptide Y is reduced (104, 111). Cachexia brought about by a variety of illnesses can be attenuated or reversed by blocking these changes (107). The nature of changes in the peripheral metabolic signals that influence appetite regulation in the brain (leptin, insulin, peptide YY, ghrelin, and lipid mediators) is still being evaluated. Experimental evidence suggests that exogenously applied ghrelin increases food intake in tumor-bearing as well as in control laboratory animals (68); however, the clinical efficacy of this factor is presently the subject of only preliminary evidence (60, 72). Dietary omega-3 fatty acids normalize concentrations of several or exigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptides in the brain, including neuropeptide Y, α -melanocyte stimulating hormone, and the neurotransmitters serotonin and dopamine (64). Clinical evidence for changes in these peripheral signals remains preliminary (71, 78, 141).

In healthy individuals, palatable, energy-dense foods retain high incentive value even when immediate physiological energy requirements have been met, and this feature of food intake regulation promotes overeating. The adaptive value of this pathway lies within the consequent development of an energy reserve for potential future food shortages. The brain structures and signaling pathways responsible for the hedonic impact of energy-dense foods are beginning to be appreciated (81). The status of the food reward pathway in cancer cachexia is largely unknown; however, it is possible that it is impaired to some degree. For example, a unique quality of food reward is its strong modulation by palatability cues (73) such as taste. Taste adulteration, particularly by components that are bitter or sour, strongly suppresses food intake and disrupts the normal structure of feeding behavior (73). The higher acuity for and aversion to sour and bitter food elements reported by many cancer patients may be inhibitory to food intake.

Excessive or Early Satiety

Cancer patients suffer varying degrees of early satiety (136). Reduced gastrointestinal motility is one cause, and gastric emptying times may be considerably extended (48). Early satiety may be multifactorial, with low motility associated with autonomic dysfunction or with the suppressive effects of opioid analgesics. Little is known about whether the metabolic signals of satiety (i.e., cholycytokinin) function normally in cancer patients. Although the satiety value of various nutrients and foods have been characterized in healthy humans, there have been essentially

no investigations of the possible uses of foods with relatively low satiety indices in feeding strategies for patients affected by excessive satiety.

More information regarding the regulation of appetite and satiety in relation to the use of dietary supplements is needed. A number of nutritional support products are available, and oral enteral formulae have been the subject of some large, randomized clinical trials (52). Where this has been measured, it is plain that when patients ingest these products there are compliance problems (12, 52), and there is a compensating decrease in oral intake at conventional meals. Stratton & Elia (144, 145) provided a critical and systematic analysis of this compensation in patients with various chronic wasting diseases, including cancer. On average, the net increase in energy intake during supplementation was equal to the \sim 67% of the energy content of the supplement, with a range of 0% (completely compensated) to 100% in the different studies. Fearon et al. (52) reported that patients with pancreatic cancer showed net retention of only 15% of the energy intake provided by a standard oral liquid supplement (i.e., 85% compensation); however, this feature is not well characterized in malignant disease. Compensating decreases in oral intake at meals of these different magnitudes result in supplementation that may be either completely ineffective or merely inefficient. Clearly, food intake is being closely regulated around a set point that is unfortunately low; however, at present, there is very little way to explain the variable incidence of this compensation effect or to predict which patients will compensate. Finally, Broekhuizen et al. (27) produced some evidence that it is possible to generate an undesirable overall food aversion when anorexic patients are pressed (or force themselves) toward high volumes of supplement intake, producing a net inhibition in total caloric intake at the highest levels of supplementation.

THE NUTRITION IMPACT SYMPTOMS

Typical evaluations (e.g., 85) of the most frequently reported symptoms in patients with advanced cancer suggest 50%–70% incidences of dry mouth, early satiety, taste/smell change, constipation, anorexia, bloating, nausea, abdominal pain, and vomiting, or on average at least four of these symptoms concurrently. Although it is not within the scope of this chapter to address in detail symptom management, it is important to keep in mind that these symptoms present an obstacle course to the patient attempting to maintain oral intake. Many of the nutrition impact symptoms are treatable, and there is a need for an integrated approach to pain and symptom management that would address all treatable causes of malnutrition. Pain management is clearly a central issue, whether or not it primarily affects the gastrointestinal system. Psychological factors, including anxiety, depression, and family and spiritual distress, may contribute, and the patient and family may experience direct distress around the patient's inability to eat and the family's desire for them to do so. Treatment with anxiolytics and antidepressants, social assistance, or counseling may be relevant. Numerous problems can be present with the mouth

and esophagus. Attention must be paid to the condition of teeth and dentures. Mouth sores are common after certain forms of chemotherapy, and sites of mucosal breakdown are susceptible to infections. Dry mouth follows radiation damage to the salivary glands, and this type of damage can potentially be prevented in the first place or palliated in various ways. Swallowing difficulties may result from tumor involvement or after surgical resection of mouth, tongue, or throat, and to some extent these can be compensated through physical therapy and provision of suitable foods. The passage of food may be affected by hypomotility of the gastrointestinal tract, which can be addressed by the use of prokinetic agents. Constipation is a frequent and often severe side effect of the use of opioid analgesics, and meticulous attention must be paid to bowel care.

Chronic Nausea and Chemosensory Abnormalities

Some special attention is due to the problems of chronic nausea and chemosensory abnormalities, as these are frequent, severe, poorly understood, and thus poorly managed. Chronic nausea and chemosensory abnormalities are important problems that are accountable for reduced food intake in the immediate term and are particularly troublesome because they may interact with one another and spawn long-lasting aversions. If the research community in anorexia-cachexia therapy intends to continue to press for the development of appetite stimulants and nutritional supplements, it will be extremely important to get these two important barriers to food intake in hand.

The prevalence of chronic nausea in patients with advanced cancer is high (up to 70%) and leads to significant distress (125, 44). This difficult and complex form of nausea is a different entity compared with chemotherapy-induced nausea. The underlying etiology is often multifactorial. Nausea may be a side effect of certain drugs or may be caused by abdominal disease, intracranial metastases, metabolic derangements (such as hypercalcemia, uremia, and hepatic involvement), as well as gastrointestinal stasis (125). Metoclopramide and domperidone are often used as first-line drugs to treat nausea in patients with advanced cancer because of their antidopamine and gastrointestinal prokinetic effects (106, 125). The efficacy of metoclopramide in patients with advanced cancer has been demonstrated (30, 31); however, generally speaking, there is a conspicuous lack of randomized controlled trials of nausea therapy in advanced cancer patients (30, 31, 39, 62).

Distortion of taste and smell is a frequent problem (85, 158) and encompasses phantom smells, persistent bad tastes, hypersensitivity to odors and flavors (158), and food aversions with nausea (121). These changes, where severe, substantially limit food intake (47, 108, 121) and, not surprisingly, self-perceived quality of life (158). Taste and smell abnormalities are a direct consequence of antineoplastic therapies, which alter or disrupt the renewal cycle of taste and smell receptors (137, 138), but are also reported in up to 90% of advanced cancer patients not undergoing active treatment (47, 85), demonstrating that factors other than active therapy are likely to contribute to chemosensory alterations. Chemosensory

problems are a well-known consequence of certain chronic nutritional deficiencies, and dietary supplementation with nutrients such as zinc may improve abilities to taste and smell (41, 133); however, empirical proof is lacking for these approaches in cancer patient populations. A research opportunity would be to apply the principles of sensory science to this problem to define clearly the clinical features of chemosensory abnormalities and to integrate this knowledge into the development of nutrient-dense foods with features of flavor, odor, texture, and appearance that match the preferences and specifically avoid the aversions experienced by patients with cancer.

Cancer Inflammation-Hypercatabolism Syndrome

Inflammation is the single most important theme consistently emerging from both animal and human studies in cancer cachexia. The presence of a chronic inflammatory state accounts for disparate aberrations, including changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, dysautonomia, hypermetabolism, oxidative stress, decreased muscle protein synthesis, and increased ubiquitin-proteosome-mediated muscle proteolysis together with other metabolic changes such as insulin resistance (2, 6, 17, 38, 42, 51, 55, 57, 92, 100–102, 115, 124, 130, 134, 151). Through its effect on multiple organs and tissues, chronic inflammation leads to the pathophysiologic profile accounting for anorexia-cachexia. It appears that a chronic inflammatory state is also key to anorexia-cachexia across a wide range of disorders, including advanced cardiac failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (38, 55, 115, 124, 159), and cachexia in the frail elderly (164).

The role of inflammation in cancer cachexia has been positively established in many animal models. The participation of proinflammatory cytokines including interleukin-1- β , interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and interferon- γ has been proven by changing cytokine production or activity using experimental approaches such as passive immunization with antibodies to cytokines, cytokine receptor antagonists or receptor knockout mice, animals overexpressing soluble receptor isoforms, and by using agents, such as pentoxyfylline, that suppress cytokine production (2, 37, 50, 59, 97). Eicosanoids are key inflammatory mediators that have also been implicated in cancer cachexia using specific cyclooxygenase inhibitors (69, 109, 134, 146).

Our report that a cytokine, interleukin-1, has a direct action to increase protein catabolism in skeletal muscle (9) created a key link in the understanding of the parallel occurrence of inflammation, infection, injury, and skeletal muscle wasting. It is now well confirmed that skeletal muscle produces cytokines and responds to them through locally expressed receptor proteins (reviewed in 6, 58). TNF- α , interleukin (II)-1 β and II-6, and interferon (IFN)- γ are currently thought to be the principal catabolic actors in skeletal muscle. Cytokines signal activation of proteolysis (1, 58, 96) as well as inhibit growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 signaling (57, 58); they also induce insulin resistance (42). The proinflammatory cytokines show the feature of potentiation of each other's actions, and a

variety of potent synergies among these factors have been noted (i.e., TNF- α + IFN- γ) for protein turnover (1); TNF- α + IFN- γ + endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide) for cytokine receptor induction (165), and TNF- α + IFN- γ + lipopolysaccharide for nitric oxide synthesis and insulin resistance (17).

Tumor-Derived Catabolic Factors: A Proteolysis-Inducing Glycoprotein

A previously unknown molecule was reported to mediate weight loss and protein catabolism in mice bearing the MAC16 adenocarcinoma. When muscle cells or animals are treated with the purified factor, intense catabolism is elicited (35, 99, 151, 155). This proteolysis-inducing factor of tumor origin has an apparent mass of \sim 24 Kd and consists of a short polypeptide chain that is phosphorylated and extensively glycosylated (154, 155). An identical factor was reported to be found in humans (153). Preliminary evidence suggested its association with weight loss in cancer patients and its absence in cancer patients who are not losing weight or weight-losing patients with benign disease (trauma or sepsis) (153). The idea that tumors may secrete catabolic factors at random is a highly important concept. If indeed this occurs, then tumors can direct spurious catabolism that does not fall under the usual and known metabolic controls. Although the idea of tumor catabolic factors created a great deal of interest, in the decade that has passed since the original report, there has been essentially no independent confirmation or extension of these results (114). This may be due in part to the fact that neither a laboratory assay for this unusual molecule nor a source of authentic pure proteolysis-inducing factor has been generally available. The idea of tumor-derived catabolic factor(s) as a contributory factor in cancer cachexia in man remains to be definitively ruled in or ruled out.

Proteolysis: Activation of Proteolytic Pathways

Mechanisms common to cancer-associated muscle atrophy are now emerging. In particular, the activation of the ubiquitin proteasome proteolytic system appears to be a common proteolytic pathway of cancer-associated muscle catabolism (3, 83, 95, 152). Most intracellular proteins in skeletal muscle are degraded through the ubiquitin proteasome system, in which proteins are marked for proteasomal degradation by the conjugation of ubiquitin molecules. The first step in this pathway is the covalent attachment of polyubiquitin chains to the targeted protein. Polyubiquitinylated proteins are then recognized and degraded by the 26S proteasome complex. Ubiquitin conjugation involves a series of enzymatic steps including activation of ubiquitin (E1); transfer of activated Ub is relocated to the E2 enzyme that serves as a carrier-protein and interacts with a specific E3 enzyme (ubiquitin ligase). The ubiquitin ligase binds to the protein substrates to be degraded and catalyzes the transfer of ubiquitin to the substrate to generate a ubiquitin chain. A cytokine-inducible ubiquitin ligase has been identified in muscles of tumor-bearing rats (88), and this may provide a plausible link between inflammation and

proteolysis. Polyubiquitinated substrates are targeted to the 26S proteasome and rapidly degraded. A review by Attaix and colleagues (3) summarized evidence from animal models that this comprises a final common pathway of muscle protein catabolism in cancer cachexia, as it also appears to be part of a common program of proteolytic activation across a diverse range of muscle atrophy types (95). Evidence for activation of this pathway is beginning to emerge from studies on cancer patients (23, 24, 43, 82). Further studies are required to better understand the regulation of elements of this system. The importance of the ubiquitin ligase family must be resolved, including identifying the physiological substrates for these enzymes in skeletal muscle, elucidating signaling events that regulate their activity, and analyzing the effects of specific inhibition.

ANTICACHEXIA THERAPIES

Current Standards of Care

The orexigenic progestational agents (megestrol acetate; medroxyprogesterone acetate) have been more extensively evaluated in randomized clinical trials than has any other agent (18, 161). Although progestational agents clearly improve food intake, they have numerous limitations. They are only effective in about 30% of subjects, after the magnitude of the placebo effect is taken into account. The poor overall response rate may be in part due to a large food effect (53), as progestational drugs are very poorly absorbed unless consumed with a lipid-containing meal. Weight gain in response to these agents is invariably composed of fat (98), and because progestational drugs also have significant glucocorticoid character, they are catabolic to skeletal muscle (91). Progestational agents are costly, are contraindicated in patients with hormone-sensitive malignancies, and have consequential side effects, such as impotence in males. These problems underline the need for the development of superior therapeutic approaches and make it easy to understand why this class of drugs is not necessarily valued as a standard of care in many settings.

Principles of Anorexia-Cachexia Therapy

The general approach to the management of wasting syndromes is based on our understanding of contributing mechanisms that form the targets for intervention. It may be generally stated that overall anabolism and muscle anabolism are maximized when:

Contractile work is frequent, especially resistance-type activity (i.e., weightlifting), and

nutrients (amino acids for building muscle protein and necessary cofactors and energy fuels) are not limiting, and

anabolic hormones (i.e., insulin and testosterone) are at optimal levels and muscle is sensitized to their action, and

catabolic factors related to stress (i.e., cortisol) or disease (i.e., proinflammatory cytokines) are minimal.

One of the most important features of cancer cachexia to take into account when designing therapeutic strategies is its various orders of complexity (102, 143). Cancer cachexia is composed, in some degree, of a lack of physical activity, reduced dietary intake, deficits in the anabolic endocrine milieu, and hyperexpression of catabolic factors. Another element of complexity in cancer cachexia is the presence of comorbid conditions contributing to wasting. The median age of cancer diagnosis and death in North America is 64 and 69 years, respectively. Aging is by itself associated with declining body weight, progressive muscle atrophy, limited mobility, risks of malnutrition, and alterations in digestion and metabolism associated with poor nitrogen retention (89, 164). This condition comprises the backdrop of the cancer cachexia experience for many patients. In a similar vein, a distinctive cachexia of COPD is a common comorbid cachexia in lung cancer patients. As COPD is mostly caused by cigarette smoke, as is cancer of the lung, there tends to be a high association between the two diseases. The suggested mechanisms of COPD-cachexia have much in common with cancer cachexia (elevated energy expenditure, reduced dietary intake, and an elevated systemic inflammatory response) (28, 29, 159, 163), although features such as excessive energy expenditure due to increased work of breathing are unique to COPD.

A helpful way to synthesize the foregoing is to consider the challenges of treating malnutrition and wasting in a model patient who:

is age 75 years,

is affected by non-small-cell cancer of the lung and COPD,

has poor mobility due to pulmonary insufficiency and pre-existing sedentary lifestyle,

exhibits a total daily energy intake of 1250 kcal and resting metabolic rate of 1800 kcal,

exhibits chemosensory distortion and food aversions

with evidence of systemic inflammation CRP 70 mg/dL, and

is male, with a testosterone level of 4 nM.

It is obvious from the example above that wasting is multifactorial and that it is unlikely that efficacy of anticachexia treatment will be maximized with any monotherapy. An integrated approach of nutrition, resistance exercise, and hormonal support has been increasingly adopted in the treatment of muscle wasting, and the component therapies are highly developed. Detailed progressive weight-training programs that address specific muscle groups are available. The amino acid requirements for maximal muscle protein deposition are at least partially understood, and elegant work has been done to promote protein synthesis through the appropriate timing of protein feeding relative to the timing and type of exercise bouts (21, 150). The anabolic action on skeletal muscle of synthetic anabolic

steroids derived and developed from the basic structure of testosterone have been intensified, while other outcomes, such as liver damage and masculinizing effects, have been minimized (10). Creatine supplementation in the diet is used as an adjunct in this recipe to support muscle growth and function (102).

This integrated approach has been used for muscle building in otherwise healthy individuals and to treat muscle wasting in the elderly (148). It is encouraging that patients considered too frail and ill to exercise have been shown to benefit and to show robust anabolic potential. Yarasheski (160) provides a pertinent example in frail elderly (76–92 years) who participated in weightlifting. Study participants showed increased biosynthesis of myosin heavy-chain and mixed-muscle proteins, as do younger people. This suggests that the protein synthetic machinery adapts rapidly to increased contractile activity and that the adaptive responses are maintained, even in frail elders. Similarly, a central theme of treatment of COPD cachexia is the trilogy of appetite stimulants and/or nutritional support, physical activity, and anabolic androgenic steroids, as well as various combinations of these factors (66, 140, 142, 162). Collectively, these data suggest a high degree of reversibility of age-related wasting and show considerable potential for an integrated approach in COPD and other cachexias. These approaches have yet to be fully evaluated in cancer patients; however, results from other catabolic conditions may share common mechanisms to cancer cachexia and offer insight into important therapeutic principles.

Some Areas of Cachexia Therapy in Development

Investigational anticachexia therapy is notable in the diversity of agents under consideration (Table 1). Although all of these treatments emanate from current conceptions of the underlying mechanisms of wasting, many more studies are needed to evaluate their efficacy as well as their cost, additional benefits, side effects, and contraindications.

Appetite Stimulants

A group of agents representing a wide range of modes of action has begun to be studied for its positive effects on appetite in cancer cachexia. Kulkarni & Kaur (87) provided a synopsis of a wide variety of drugs that showed weight gain as side effects, and some of these are being explored in anorexia therapy. The review by Yavuzsen et al. (161), however, makes it clear that none of these have been tested in more than one or two trials, and many of these may be described as preliminary in nature. These agents come from diverse drug classes. Appetite is regulated in part by endocannabinoid-mediated pathways, which suggests that this pathway is manipulated to both suppress (149) and activate (16, 161) appetite. Δ -9-tetrahydrocannabinol stimulates appetite in AIDS patients (16) as well as in cancer populations (161), but evidence is not conclusive. The atypical neuroleptic, olanzapine, was noted to have some side effects, including stimulation of appetite, as well as some antinausea activity (119); this drug is in ongoing trials for cancer

TABLE 1 Clinical therapeutic agents for the treatment of cachexia

	Agent	Applications	
Action site		Cancer cachexia	Other cachexia- causing diseases
Appetite stimulants	Progestational agents Cannabinoids Olanzepine Corticosteroids Ghrelin	\ \ \ \ \	√ √ √
Nutritional supplements	Amino acids Creatine Polyunsaturated fatty acids: eicosapentaenoic acid (n-3) (fish oil)	√ √	√ √ √
Anabolic	Steroids Insulin Insulin-like growth factor, growth hormone β-adrenergic agonists	√ √	√ √ √
Exercise	p unionergie agomists	\checkmark	\checkmark
Combination therapy	Exercise + oral nutritional supplementation Anabolic steroids + oral nutritional supplementation		√ √
Anti-inflammatory	Polyunsaturated fatty acids: eicosapentaenoic acid (n-3) (fish oil)	√	√
	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents Macrolide antibiotics Cytokine inhibitors	√ √ √	√ √
	Statins	•	$\sqrt{}$
	Thalidomide Pentoxyphylline	$\sqrt{}$	\checkmark

cachexia. Ghrelin, a recently characterized entero-endocrine hormone, is produced by the epithelium of the stomach and is involved in the regulation of appetite in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. Ghrelin stimulates hunger and is one of the suspected etiologic agents of Prader Willi syndrome, a disease associated with voracious appetite; thus, it has been proposed as an anorexia therapy (60, 72). Currently, only preliminary evidence is available on the possible efficacy of ghrelin in the treatment of cancer-associated anorexia in mice (68) and in humans with cancer (120) and COPD (117).

Nutritional Supplements

It is notable that the problem of low intake is to date principally approached via pharmacologic interventions directed at appetite. Although one might consider nutritional support as a fundament of anorexia-cachexia therapy, nutrient metabolism and nutrient requirements of cancer patients have not generally been evaluated using current methodology; thus, the extent to which utilization of essential nutrients is altered by cancer progression and therapies is largely unknown. Appropriately formulated nutrient mixtures may be expected to alleviate muscle loss, improve tolerance to treatments, or have immune-stimulatory properties, allowing more effective antitumor immune responses without necessarily stimulating tumor growth (63, 103).

Several amino acids appear to show increased utilization in the tumor-bearing state (reviewed in 103), including aromatic, sulfur-containing, and branched-chain amino acids, as well as several nonessential amino acids that may become conditionally essential (ala, gln, cys, arg). There is not yet an understanding of amino acid utilization that is sufficiently extensive to support the formulation of cancer-specific specialized amino acid formulae for enteral or parenteral nutrition.

There have been a few reports of inhibition of cancer-associated wasting by n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids eicosapentaneoic acid (20:5n-3) and docosahexaneoic acid (22:6n-3) in animal models and clinical investigations (reviewed in 8). It may be inferred from the results that these compounds are limiting and that dietary needs for them may be elevated. Fish oil feeding reverses anorexia and suppresses wasting, muscle protein catabolism, and muscle protease induction in multiple animal models (8, 64, 80, 128, 129, 156). Clinical evidence on n-3 supplementation remains inconclusive (52, 161).

Anti-Inflammatory Therapy

Given that inflammation is clearly seen to be the leading cause of anorexia and wasting in a wide range of cachexia syndromes, it is disappointing that few randomized clinical trials in this area have been conducted. It is also a concern that these therapies to date have been applied to unselected patient populations without necessarily obtaining any evidence of systemic inflammation, either as an inclusion criterion or as a biochemical marker that could potentially be related to efficacy. More trials are needed to find the most efficacious anti-inflammatory therapy in this application, taking into account costs, side effects, and other features of the agents. The list is long and includes conventional non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, COX II inhibitors (100, 101), anticytokine approaches (77), and the n-3 fatty acids (52, 161). There has been some sporadic testing of various compounds with anti-inflammatory properties in clinical research. Macrolide antibiotics (135) and thalidomide (65) have also been suggested as cancer cachexia treatments, in part based upon their anti-inflammatory actions.

Anabolic Agents

It is of interest that muscle is, nonetheless, responsive to a variety of anabolic agents in cancer cachexia, and this has been mostly explored in animal models. For example, β -adrenergic agonists such as formoterol, salbutamol, salmeterol, and clenbuterol (32, 34) preserve muscle mass and activate protein synthesis in tumor models. Thus it may be concluded that anabolic pathways remain competent, which suggests possible therapeutic approaches. Several authors have suggested that cytokines such as II-15 and II-4 may make useful treatments because of their myotrophic and anabolic properties and their ability to oppose the actions of catabolic cytokines (6, 126). II-15 antagonizes muscle atrophy in tumor-bearing rats (33, 54), as does II-4 (147). It has additionally been suggested that growth hormone or IGF-1 may have therapeutic potential (19, 40, 84, 157), although there is some question as to whether these therapies might spur on tumor growth.

Drug Targets in Downstream Proteolytic Pathways

Activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system is common in many types of cancer cachexia, regardless of whether one or another hormone, cytokine, or other factor appears to be the humoral signal for the system's activation. The position of ubiquitin ligases in the span of the pathway of muscle protein catabolism that is common to multiple hormones, cytokines, and other factors would allow for a simplification of anticatabolic therapies. Since target proteins bind to the ubiquitin ligase prior to conjugation, it has been suggested that the ubiquitin ligase determines both the specificity and rate of the degradative system (88, 152). This raises the potential of ubiquitin ligase as a therapeutic target (74, 88, 152). Further studies are required to better understand the importance of the ubiquitin ligase family in catabolic disease states. These studies should include identifying the physiological substrates for ubiquitin ligases in skeletal muscle, elucidating various signaling events that regulate their activity, and analyzing the effects of selective blockade, through gene ablation and/or the design of selective small-molecule inhibitors, on response to catabolic challenges. Although therapy at this level is presented as a goal for the far and distant future by some cautious proponents (74), the ubiquitin ligases are nonetheless attractive molecular targets for manipulation of proteolysis since their features potentially allow for local suppression of muscle catabolism without affecting the basal proteolytic processes in other tissues or associated essential functions.

CONCLUSIONS

Cancer cachexia is a syndrome of multifactorial etiology. Many mechanisms have been proposed to underlie anorexia, inability to eat, and tissue wasting, and these seem to be part of a common pattern emerging in a broader family of wasting diseases. This area would benefit from the validation of animal models for the preclinical investigation of anorexia-cachexia therapy and would be well served by the establishment of a scientific and medical group dedicated to the development of multicenter, randomized clinical trials of anticachexia therapy.

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at http://nutr.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Acharyya S, Ladner KJ, Nelsen LL, Damrauer J, Reiser PJ, et al. 2004. Cancer cachexia is regulated by selective targeting of skeletal muscle gene products. *J. Clin. Invest.* 114:370–78
- Argiles JM, Busquets S, Lopez-Soriano FJ. 2005. The pivotal role of cytokines in muscle wasting during cancer. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 37:1609– 19
- Attaix D, Combaret L, Tilignac T, Taillandier D. 1999. Adaptation of the ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway in cancer cachexia. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 26:77–82
- Bachmann P, Marti-Massoud C, Blanc-Vincent MP, Desport JC, Colomb V, et al. 2003. Summary version of the standards, options and recommendations for palliative or terminal nutrition in adults with progressive cancer 2001. *Br. J. Cancer* 89(Suppl. 1):S107–10
- Baracos VE. 2001. Management of muscle wasting in cancer-associated cachexia: understanding gained from experimental studies. *Cancer* 92:1669–77
- Baracos VE. 2005. Cytokines and the pathophysiology of skeletal muscle atrophy. In *The Pharmacotherapy of Cachexia*, ed. SD Anker, K Hofbauer, pp. 101–14. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
- Baracos VE, Le Bricon T. 2000. Animal models for nutrition in cancer. Nestle Nutr. Workshop Ser. Clin. Perform. Programme 4:167–80
- Baracos VE, Mazurak VC, Ma DWL. 2004. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids throughout the cancer trajectory: influ-

- ence on disease incidence, progression, response to therapy and cancer-associated cachexia. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 17:177–92
- Baracos VE, Rodemann HP, Dinarello CA, Goldberg AL. 1983. Stimulation of muscle protein degradation and prostaglandin E2 release by leukocytic pyrogen (interleukin-1). A mechanism for the increased degradation of muscle proteins during fever. N. Engl. J. Med. 308:553–58
- Basaria S, Wahlstrom JT, Dobs AS. 2001. Clinical review 138: anabolic-androgenic steroid therapy in the treatment of chronic diseases. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86:5108–17
- Bauer JD, Capra S. 2005. Nutrition intervention improves outcomes in patients with cancer cachexia receiving chemotherapy—a pilot study. Support. Care Cancer 13:270–74
- Bauer JD, Capra S, Battistutta D, Davidson W, Ash S. 2005. Compliance with nutrition prescription improves outcomes in patients with unresectable pancreatic cancer. Clin. Nutr. 24:998–1004
- Baumgartner RN. 2000. Body composition in healthy aging. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 904:437–48
- Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymsfield SB, et al. 1998. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. *Am. J. Epidemiol*. 147:755–63
- Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. 2004. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. Obes. Res. 12:1995–2004

- Beal JE, Olson R, Lefkowitz L, Laubenstein L, Bellman P, et al. 1997. Longterm efficacy and safety of dronabinol for acquired immunodeficiency syndromeassociated anorexia. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 14:7–14
- Bedard S, Marcotte B, Marette A. 1997. Cytokines modulate glucose transport in skeletal muscle by inducing the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Biochem. J.* 325(Pt. 2):487–93
- Berenstein EG, Ortiz Z. 2005. Megestrol acetate for the treatment of anorexiacachexia syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD0043.10
- Bing C. 2005. Insight into the growth hormone insulin-like growth factor-I axis in cancer cachexia. Br. J. Nutr. 93:761– 63
- Blackburn GL, Bistrian BR, Maini BS, Schlamm HT, Smith MF. 1977. Nutritional and metabolic assessment of the hospitalized patient. *JPEN J. Parenter*. *Enteral Nutr.* 1:11–22
- Bolster DR, Pikosky MA, Gaine PC, Martin W, Wolfe RR, et al. 2005. Dietary protein intake impacts human skeletal muscle protein fractional synthetic rates after endurance exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 289:E678–83
- Bosaeus I, Daneryd P, Svanberg E, Lundholm K. 2001. Dietary intake and resting energy expenditure in relation to weight loss in unselected cancer patients. *Int. J. Cancer* 93:380–83
- Bossola M, Muscaritoli M, Costelli P, Bellantone R, Pacelli F, et al. 2001. Increased muscle ubiquitin mRNA levels in gastric cancer patients. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 280:R1518–23
- Bossola M, Muscaritoli M, Costelli P, Grieco G, Bonelli G, et al. 2003. Increased muscle proteasome activity correlates with disease severity in gastric cancer patients. *Ann. Surg.* 237:384–89
- Bozzetti F, Bozzetti V. 2005. Efficacy of enteral and parenteral nutrition in cancer

- patients. Nestle Nutr. Workshop Ser. Clin. Perform. Programme 10:127–39
- Broberger C. 2005. Brain regulation of food intake and appetite: molecules and networks. J. Intern. Med. 258:301–27
- Broekhuizen R, Creutzberg EC, Weling-Scheepers CA, Wouters EF, Schols AM.
 Optimizing oral nutritional drink supplementation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Br. J. Nutr.* 93:965–71
- 28. Broekhuizen R, Grimble RF, Howell WM, Shale DJ, Creutzberg EC, et al. 2005. Pulmonary cachexia, systemic inflammatory profile, and the interleukin 1{β}-511 single nucleotide polymorphism. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 82:1059–64
- Broekhuizen R, Wouters EF, Creutzberg EC, Schols AM. 2006. Elevated CRP levels mark metabolic and functional impairment in advanced COPD. *Thorax* 61:17–22
- Bruera E, Belzile M, Neumann C, Harsanyi Z, Babul N, Darke A. 2000.
 A double-blind, crossover study of controlled-release metoclopramide and placebo for the chronic nausea and dyspepsia of advanced cancer. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 19:427–35
- Bruera E, Moyano JR, Sala R, Rico MA, Bosnjak S, et al. 2004. Dexamethasone in addition to metoclopramide for chronic nausea in patients with advanced cancer: a randomized controlled trial. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 28:381–88
- Busquets S, Figueras MT, Fuster G, Almendro V, Moore-Carrasco R, et al. 2004.
 Anticachectic effects of formoterol: a drug for potential treatment of muscle wasting. Cancer Res. 64:6725–31
- Carbo N, Lopez-Soriano J, Costelli P, Busquets S, Alvarez B, et al. 2000. Interleukin-15 antagonizes muscle protein waste in tumor-bearing rats. Br. J. Cancer 83:526–31
- Carbo N, Lopez-Soriano J, Tarrago T, Gonzalez O, Llovera M, et al. 1997.
 Comparative effects of beta2-adrenergic

- agonists on muscle waste associated with tumor growth. *Cancer Lett.* 115:113–18
- 35. Cariuk P, Lorite MJ, Todorov PT, Field WN, Wigmore SJ, Tisdale MJ. 1997. Induction of cachexia in mice by a product isolated from the urine of cachectic cancer patients. *Br. J. Cancer* 76:606–13
- Chow E, Davis L, Panzarella T, Hayter C, Szumacher E, et al. 2005. Accuracy of survival prediction by palliative radiation oncologists. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 61:870–73
- 37. Combaret L, Ralliere C, Taillandier D, Tanaka K, Attaix D. 1999. Manipulation of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in cachexia: pentoxifylline suppresses the activation of 20S and 26S proteasomes in muscles from tumor-bearing rats. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 26:95–101
- Conraads VM, Bosmans JM, Vrints CJ.
 2002. Chronic heart failure: an example of a systemic chronic inflammatory disease resulting in cachexia. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 85:33–49
- Critchley P, Plach N, Grantham M, Marshall D, Taniguchi A, et al. 2001. Efficacy of haloperidol in the treatment of nausea and vomiting in the palliative patient: a systematic review. *J. Pain Symptom Manage*. 22:631–34
- 40. Crown AL, Cottle K, Lightman SL, Falk S, Mohamed-Ali V, et al. 2002. What is the role of the insulin-like growth factor system in the pathophysiology of cancer cachexia, and how is it regulated? Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 56:723–33
- Davidson HI, Paxton JW, Richardon RA. 1998. Clinical undernutrition states and their influence on taste. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 57:633–38
- 42. de Alvaro C, Teruel T, Hernandez R, Lorenzo M. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor alpha produces insulin resistance in skeletal muscle by activation of inhibitor kappaB kinase in a p38 MAPK-dependent manner. J. Biol. Chem. 279:17070–78
- 43. Dejong CH, Busquets S, Moses AG,

- Schrauwen P, Ross JA, et al. 2005. Systemic inflammation correlates with increased expression of skeletal muscle ubiquitin but not uncoupling proteins in cancer cachexia. *Oncol. Rep.* 14:257–63
- Derby S, Portenoy RK. 1997. Assessment and management of opioid-induced constipation. In *Topics in Palliative Care*, ed. RK Portenoy, E Bruera, 1:95–112. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- DeWys WD, Begg C, Lavin PT, Band PR, Bennett JM, et al. 1980. Prognostic effect of weight loss prior to chemotherapy in cancer patients. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am. J. Med. 69:491–97
- DeWys WD, Costa G, Henkin R. 1981.
 Clinical parameters related to anorexia.
 Cancer Treat. Rep. 65(Suppl. 5):49–52
- 47. DeWys WD, Walters K. 1975. Abnormalities of taste sensation in cancer patients. *Cancer* 36:1888–96
- 48. Dibaise JK, Lyden E, Tarantolo SR, Bierman PJ, Brand RE. 2005. A prospective study of gastric emptying and its relationship to the development of nausea, vomiting, and anorexia after autologous stem cell transplantation. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 100:1571–77
- Duerksen DR, Ting E, Thomson P, McCurdy K, Linscer J, et al. 2004. Is there a role for TPN in terminally ill patients with bowel obstruction? *Nutrition* 20:760–63
- Enomoto A, Rho MC, Fukami A, Hiraku O, Komiyama K, Hayashi M. 2004. Suppression of cancer cachexia by 20S,21-epoxy-resibufogenin-3-acetate-a novel nonpeptide IL-6 receptor antagonist. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 323:1096–102
- Fearon KC, Barber MD, Falconer JS, McMillan DC, Ross JA, Preston T. 1999.
 Pancreatic cancer as a model: inflammatory mediators, acute-phase response, and cancer cachexia. World J. Surg. 23:584–88
- 52. Fearon KC, von Meyenfeldt MF, Moses AG, Van Geenen R, Roy A, et al. 2003.

- Effect of a protein and energy dense N-3 fatty acid enriched oral supplement on loss of weight and lean tissue in cancer cachexia: a randomised double blind trial. *Gut* 52:1479–86
- Femia RA, Goyette RE. 2005. The science of megestrol acetate delivery: potential to improve outcomes in cachexia. *BioDrugs* 19:179–87
- 54. Figueras M, Busquets S, Carbo N, Barreiro E, Almendro V, et al. 2004. Interleukin-15 is able to suppress the increased DNA fragmentation associated with muscle wasting in tumor-bearing rats. FEBS Lett. 569:201–6
- Filippatos GS, Anker SD, Kremastinos DT. 2005. Pathophysiology of peripheral muscle wasting in cardiac cachexia. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 8:249–54
- Ford ES. 1999. Body mass index and colon cancer in a national sample of adult US men and women. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 150:390–98
- Frost RA, Lang CH. 2004. Alteration of somatotropic function by proinflammatory cytokines. *J. Anim. Sci.* 82(E-Suppl.):E100–9
- Frost RA, Lang CH. 2005. Skeletal muscle cytokines: regulation by pathogenassociated molecules and catabolic hormones. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 8:255–63
- 59. Fujita J, Tsujinaka T, Yano M, Ebisui C, Saito H, et al. 1996. Anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody prevents muscle atrophy in colon-26 adenocarcinomabearing mice with modulation of lysosomal and ATP-ubiquitin-dependent prote-olytic pathways. *Int. J. Cancer* 68:637–43
- Garcia JM, Garcia-Touza M, Hijazi RA, Taffet G, Epner D, et al. 2005. Active ghrelin levels and active to total ghrelin ratio in cancer-induced cachexia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90:2920–26
- Glare P. 2005. Clinical predictors of survival in advanced cancer. J. Support. Oncol. 3:331–39
- 62. Glare P, Pereira G, Kristjanson LJ, Stock-

- ler M, Tattersall M. 2004. Systematic review of the efficacy of antiemetics in the treatment of nausea in patients with faradvanced cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 12:432–40
- 63. Gomes-Marcondes MC, Ventrucci G, Toledo MT, Cury L, Cooper JC. 2003. A leucine-supplemented diet improved protein content of skeletal muscle in young tumor-bearing rats. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 36:1589–94
- 64. Goncalves CG, Ramos EJ, Suzuki S, Meguid MM. 2005. Omega-3 fatty acids and anorexia. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 8:403–7
- 65. Gordon JN, Trebble TM, Ellis RD, Duncan HD, Johns T, Goggin PM. 2005. Thalidomide in the treatment of cancer cachexia: a randomised placebo controlled trial. *Gut* 54:540–45
- 66. Goris AH, Vermeeren MA, Wouters EF, Schols AM, Westerterp KR. 2003. Energy balance in depleted ambulatory patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the effect of physical activity and oral nutritional supplementation. Br. J. Nutr. 89:725–31
- 67. Graziano F, Ruzzo A, Santini D, Humar B, Tonini G, et al. 2005. Prognostic role of interleukin-1beta gene and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene polymorphisms in patients with advanced gastric cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 23:2339–45
- Hanada T, Toshinai K, Kajimura N, Nara-Ashizawa N, Tsukada T, et al. 2003. Anti-cachectic effect of ghrelin in nude mice bearing human melanoma cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 301:275–79
- 69. Hitt A, Graves E, McCarthy DO. 2005. Indomethacin preserves muscle mass and reduces levels of E3 ligases and TNF receptor type 1 in the gastrocnemius muscle of tumor-bearing mice. Res. Nurs. Health 28:56–66
- Hoda D, Jatoi A, Burnes J, Loprinzi C, Kelly D. 2005. Should patients with advanced, incurable cancers ever be sent

- home with total parenteral nutrition? A single institution's 20-year experience. *Cancer* 103:863–88
- Huang Q, Nai YJ, Jiang ZW, Li JS. 2005. Change of the growth hormone-insulinlike growth factor-I axis in patients with gastrointestinal cancer: related to tumor type and nutritional status. *Br. J. Nutr.* 93:853–58
- 72. Inui A, Meguid MM. 2002. Ghrelin and cachexia. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 4:431
- Ishii Y, Blundell JE, Halford JC, Rodgers RJ. 2003. Palatability, food intake and the behavioural satiety sequence in male rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 80:37–47
- 74. Jagoe RT, Goldberg AL. 2001. What do we really know about the ubiquitinproteasome pathway in muscle atrophy? Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 4: 183–90
- Janssen I, Baumgartner RN, Ross R, Rosenberg IH, Roubenoff R. 2004. Skeletal muscle cutpoints associated with elevated physical disability risk in older men and women. Am. J. Epidemiol. 159:413– 21
- Jatoi A, Daly BD, Hughes VA, Dallal GE, Kehayias J, Roubenoff R. 2001. Do patients with nonmetastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer demonstrate altered resting energy expenditure? *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 72:348–51
- 77. Jatoi A, Jett JR, Sloan J, Novotny P, Ford J, et al. 2004. A pilot study on safety and pharmacokinetics of infliximab for the cancer anorexia/weight loss syndrome in nonsmall-cell lung cancer patients. *Support. Care Cancer* 12:859–63
- 78. Jatoi A, Loprinzi CL, Sloan JA, Klee GG, Windschitl HE. 2001. Neuropeptide Y, leptin, and cholecystokinin 8 in patients with advanced cancer and anorexia: a North Central Cancer Treatment Group exploratory investigation. *Cancer* 92:629–33
- Jatoi A, Podratz KC, Gill P, Hartmann LC.
 2004. Pathophysiology and palliation of inoperable bowel obstruction in patients

- with ovarian cancer. *J. Support. Oncol.* 2:323–34
- Jho DH, Babcock TA, Tevar R, Helton WS, Espat NJ. 2002. Eicosapentaenoic acid supplementation reduces tumor volume and attenuates cachexia in a rat model of progressive nonmetastasizing malignancy. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 26:291–97
- Kelley AE, Baldo BA, Pratt WE. 2005. A proposed hypothalamic-thalamic-striatal axis for the integration of energy balance, arousal, and food reward. J. Comp. Neurol. 493:72–85
- Khal J, Hine AV, Fearon KC, Dejong CH, Tisdale MJ. 2005. Increased expression of proteasome subunits in skeletal muscle of cancer patients with weight loss. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 37:2196–106
- Khal J, Wyke SM, Russell ST, Hine AV, Tisdale MJ. 2005. Expression of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and muscle loss in experimental cancer cachexia. *Br. J. Cancer* 93:774–80
- 84. Khan AS, Smith LC, Anscombe IW, Cummings KK, Pope MA, Draghia-Akli R. 2005. Growth hormone releasing hormone plasmid supplementation, a potential treatment for cancer cachexia, does not increase tumor growth in nude mice. Cancer Gene Ther. 12:54–60
- Komurcu S, Nelson KA, Walsh D, Ford RB, Rybicki LA. 2002. Gastrointestinal symptoms among inpatients with advanced cancer. Am. J. Hosp. Palliat. Care 19:351–55
- Krouse RS. 2004. Surgical management of malignant bowel obstruction. Surg. Oncol. Clin. N. Am. 13:479–90
- Kulkarni SK, Kaur G. 2001. Pharmacodynamics of drug-induced weight gain. *Drugs Today (Barc.)* 37:559–71
- 88. Kwak KS, Zhou X, Solomon V, Baracos VE, Davis J, et al. 2004. Regulation of protein catabolism by muscle-specific and cytokine-inducible ubiquitin ligase E3alpha-II during cancer cachexia. Cancer Res. 64:8193–8

- Kyle UG, Genton L, Gremion G, Slosman DO, Pichard C. 2004. Aging, physical activity and height-normalized body composition parameters. Clin. Nutr. 23:79–88
- Kyle UG, Pirlich M, Lochs H, Schuetz T, Pichard C. 2005. Increased length of hospital stay in underweight and overweight patients at hospital admission: a controlled population study. *Clin. Nutr.* 24:133–42
- Lambert CP, Sullivan DH, Freeling SA, Lindquist DM, Evans WJ. 2002. Effects of testosterone replacement and/or resistance exercise on the composition of megestrol acetate stimulated weight gain in elderly men: a randomized controlled trial. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87:2100–6
- Lang CH, Hong-Brown L, Frost RA.
 Cytokine inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling: a new mechanism of growth hormone resistance. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 20:306–12
- Laviano A, Meguid MM, Gleason JR, Rossi-Fanelli F. 2002. VMN/LHA functional inhibition in tumor-bearing rats suggests hypothalamic involvement in cancer anorexia. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 5:443– 56
- Laviano A, Rossi FF, Meguid MM. 2005.
 Serotonin and cancer anorexia: myths or facts? J. Clin. Oncol. 23:2111–12
- Lecker SH, Jagoe RT, Gilbert A, Gomes M, Baracos V, et al. 2004. Multiple types of skeletal muscle atrophy involve a common program of changes in gene expression. FASEB J. 18:39–51
- Li YP, Lecker SH, Chen Y, Waddell ID, Goldberg AL, Reid MB. 2003. TNFalpha increases ubiquitin-conjugating activity in skeletal muscle by up-regulating UbcH2/E220k. FASEB J. 17:1048–57
- Llovera M, Garcia-Martinez C, Lopez-Soriano J, Carbo N, Agell N, et al. 1998.
 Role of TNF receptor 1 in protein turnover during cancer cachexia using gene knock-out mice. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 142:183–89

- Loprinzi CL, Schaid DJ, Dose AM, Burnham NL, Jensen MD. 1993. Bodycomposition changes in patients who gain weight while receiving megestrol acetate. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 11:152–54
- Lorite MJ, Thompson MG, Drake JL, Carling G, Tisdale MJ. 1998. Mechanism of muscle protein degradation induced by a cancer cachectic factor. *Br. J. Cancer* 78:850–56
- 100. Lundholm K, Daneryd P, Korner U, Hyltander A, Bosaeus I. 2004. Evidence that long-term COX treatment improves energy homeostasis and body composition in cancer patients with progressive cachexia. *Int. J. Oncol.* 24:505–12
- 101. Lundholm K, Gelin J, Hyltander A, Lonnroth C, Sandstrom R, et al. 1994. Anti-inflammatory treatment may prolong survival in undernourished patients with metastatic solid tumors. Cancer Res. 54:5602–6
- 102. MacDonald N, Easson AM, Mazurak VC, Dunn GP, Baracos VE. 2003. Understanding and managing cancer cachexia. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 197:143–61
- 103. Mackenzie ML, Baracos VE. 2003. Cancer-associated cachexia: altered metabolism of protein and amino acids. In Amino Acid Metabolism and Therapy in Health and Diseases, ed. L Cynober, pp. 339–54. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. 2nd ed.
- 104. Makarenko IG, Meguid MM, Gatto L, Chen C, Ramos EJ, et al. 2005. Normalization of hypothalamic serotonin (5-HT 1B) receptor and NPY in cancer anorexia after tumor resection: an immunocytochemical study. *Neurosci. Lett.* 383:322–27
- 105. Maltoni M, Caraceni A, Brunelli C, Broeckaert B, Christakis N, et al. 2005. Prognostic factors in advanced cancer patients: evidence-based clinical recommendations—a study by the Steering Committee of the European Association for Palliative Care. J. Clin. Oncol. 23:6240–48

- 106. Mannix KA. 2003. Palliation of nausea and vomiting. In Oxford Textbook of Palliative Medicine, ed. D Doyle, G Hanks, N Cherny, K Calman, pp. 459–67. London: Oxford Univ. Press. 3rd ed.
- 107. Markison S, Foster AC, Chen C, Brookhart GB, Hesse A, et al. 2005. The regulation of feeding and metabolic rate and the prevention of murine cancer cachexia with a small-molecule melanocortin-4 receptor antagonist. *En*docrinology 146:2766–73
- 108. Mattes RD, Cowart BJ, Schiavo MA, Arnold C, Garrison B, et al. 1990. Dietary evaluation of patients with smell and/or taste disorders. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 51:233– 40
- 109. McCarthy DO, Whitney P, Hitt A, Al Majid S. 2004. Indomethacin and ibuprofen preserve gastrocnemius muscle mass in mice bearing the colon-26 adenocarcinoma. Res. Nurs. Health 27:174–84
- 110. McClement SE, Degner LF, Harlos MS. 2003. Family beliefs regarding the nutritional care of a terminally ill relative: a qualitative study. *J. Palliat. Med.* 6:737– 48
- 111. Meguid MM, Ramos EJ, Laviano A, Varma M, Sato T, et al. 2004. Tumor anorexia: effects on neuropeptide Y and monoamines in paraventricular nucleus. Peptides 25:261–66
- Mercadante S, Ferrera P, Villari P, Marrazzo A. 2004. Aggressive pharmacological treatment for reversing malignant bowel obstruction. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 28:412–16
- Mirhosseini N, Fainsinger RL, Baracos V. 2005. Parenteral nutrition in advanced cancer: indications and clinical practice guidelines. J. Palliat. Med. 8:914–18
- 114. Monitto CL, Dong SM, Jen J, Sidransky D. 2004. Characterization of a human homologue of proteolysis-inducing factor and its role in cancer cachexia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10:5862–69
- Montes O, Torres SH, De Sanctis J, Mata A, Hernandez N, Talamo C. 2005. Skele-

- tal muscle inflammation and nitric oxide in patients with COPD. *Eur. Respir. J.* 26:390–97
- Murray SM, Pindoria S. 2002. Nutrition support for bone marrow transplant patients. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* CD0029.20
- 117. Nagaya N, Itoh T, Murakami S, Oya H, Uematsu M, et al. 2005. Treatment of cachexia with ghrelin in patients with COPD. Chest 128:1187–93
- National Cancer Institute. 2005. Common toxicity criteria. http://ctep.cancer.gov/forms/CTCAEv3.pdf
- 119. Navari RM, Einhorn LH, Passik SD, Loehrer PJS, Johnson C, et al. 2005. A phase II trial of olanzapine for the prevention of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting: a Hoosier Oncology Group study. Support. Care Cancer 13:529–34
- 120. Neary NM, Small CJ, Wren AM, Lee JL, Druce MR, et al. 2004. Ghrelin increases energy intake in cancer patients with impaired appetite: acute, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89:2832–36
- 121. Nielsen SS, Theologides A, Vickers ZM. 1980. Influence of food odors on food aversions and preferences in patients with cancer. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 33:2253–61
- 122. Nitenberg G, Raynard B. 2000. Nutritional support of the cancer patient: issues and dilemmas. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 34:137–68
- 123. Okorie MI, Hussain SA, Riley PL, Mc-Cafferty IJ. 2004. The use of self-expandable metal stents in the palliation of malignant bowel obstruction. *Oncol. Rep.* 12:67–71
- 124. Oudijk EJ, Nijhuis EH, Zwank MD, van de Graaf EA, Mager HJ, et al. 2005. Systemic inflammation in COPD visualised by gene profiling in peripheral blood neutrophils. *Thorax* 60:538–44
- 125. Pereira J, Bruera E. 1996. Chronic nausea. In *Cachexia-Anorexia in Cancer Patients*, ed. E Bruera, I Higgison, pp. 23–37. New York: Oxford Univ. Press

- 126. Quinn LS, Anderson BG, Drivdahl RH, Alvarez B, Argiles JM. 2002. Overexpression of interleukin-15 induces skeletal muscle hypertrophy in vitro: implications for treatment of muscle wasting disorders. *Exp. Cell Res.* 280:55–63
- 127. Ramos EJ, Meguid MM, Campos AC, Coelho JC. 2005. Neuropeptide Y, alphamelanocyte-stimulating hormone, and monoamines in food intake regulation. *Nutrition* 21:269–79
- 128. Ramos EJ, Middleton FA, Laviano A, Sato T, Romanova I, et al. 2004. Effects of omega-3 fatty acid supplementation on tumor-bearing rats. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 199:716–23
- 129. Ramos EJ, Romanova IV, Suzuki S, Chen C, Ugrumov MV, et al. 2005. Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on orexigenic and anorexigenic modulators at the onset of anorexia. *Brain Res.* 1046:157–64
- 130. Ramos EJ, Suzuki S, Marks D, Inui A, Asakawa A, Meguid MM. 2004. Cancer anorexia-cachexia syndrome: cytokines and neuropeptides. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab Care 7:427–34
- 131. Ramos EJ, Suzuki S, Meguid MM, Laviano A, Sato T, et al. 2004. Changes in hypothalamic neuropeptide Y and monoaminergic system in tumor-bearing rats: pre- and post-tumor resection and at death. *Surgery* 136:270–76
- 132. Ripamonti C, Twycross R, Baines M, Bozzetti F, Capri S, et al. 2001. Clinical practice recommendations for the management of bowel obstruction in patients with end-stage cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 9:223–33
- 133. Ripamonti C, Zecca E, Brunelli C, Fulfaro F, Villa S, et al. 1998. A randomized, controlled clinical trial to evaluate the effects of zinc sulfate on cancer patients with taste alterations caused by head and neck irradiation. Cancer 82:1938–45
- Ross JA, Fearon KC. 2002. Eicosanoiddependent cancer cachexia and wasting.

- Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 5:241–48
- 135. Sakamoto M, Mikasa K, Majima T, Hamada K, Konishi M, et al. 2001. Anticachectic effect of clarithromycin for patients with unresectable nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Chemotherapy* 47:444–51
- Sarhill N, Christie R. 2002. Early satiety in advanced cancer: a common unrecognized symptom? Am. J. Hosp. Palliat. Care 19:305
- Schiffman SS. 1983. Taste and smell in disease (first of two parts). N. Engl. J. Med. 308:1275–79
- Schiffman SS. 1983. Taste and smell in disease (second of two parts). N. Engl. J. Med. 308:1337–43
- 139. Schols AM, Broekhuizen R, Weling-Scheepers CA, Wouters EF. 2005. Body composition and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 82:53–59
- 140. Schols AM, Soeters PB, Mostert R, Pluymers RJ, Wouters EF. 1995. Physiologic effects of nutritional support and anabolic steroids in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A placebocontrolled randomized trial. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 152:1268–74
- 141. Simons JP, Schols AM, Campfield LA, Wouters EF, Saris WH. 1997. Plasma concentration of total leptin and human lungcancer-associated cachexia. *Clin. Sci.* (*Lond.*) 93:273–77
- 142. Steiner MC, Barton RL, Singh SJ, Morgan MD. 2003. Nutritional enhancement of exercise performance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomised controlled trial. *Thorax* 58:745–51
- Strasser F, Bruera ED. 2002. Update on anorexia and cachexia. *Hematol. Oncol.* Clin. North Am. 16:589–617
- 144. Stratton RJ, Elia M. 1999. A critical systematic analysis of the use of oral nutritional supplements in the community. Clin. Nutr. 18(Suppl. 2):29–84
- Stratton RJ, Elia M. 2000. Are oral nutritional supplements of benefit to patients in

- the community? Findings from a systematic review. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 3:311–15
- 146. Strelkov AB, Fields AL, Baracos VE. 1989. Effects of systemic inhibition of prostaglandin production on protein metabolism in tumor-bearing rats. Am. J. Physiol. 257:C261–69
- 147. Sturlan S, Beinhauer BG, Oberhuber G, Huang L, Aasen AO, Rogy MA. 2002. In vivo gene transfer of murine interleukin-4 inhibits colon-26-mediated cancer cachexia in mice. *Anticancer Res.* 22:2547–54
- 148. Sullivan DH, Roberson PK, Johnson LE, Bishara O, Evans WJ, et al. 2005. Effects of muscle strength training and testosterone in frail elderly males. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37:1664–72
- 149. Thornton-Jones ZD, Vickers SP, Clifton PG. 2005. The cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonist SR1417.16A reduces appetitive and consummatory responses for food. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 179:452–60
- 150. Tipton KD, Elliott TA, Cree MG, Wolf SE, Sanford AP, Wolfe RR. 2004. Ingestion of casein and whey proteins result in muscle anabolism after resistance exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 36:2073–81
- Tisdale MJ. 2002. Cachexia in cancer patients. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2:862–71
- 152. Tisdale MJ. 2005. The ubiquitinproteasome pathway as a therapeutic target for muscle wasting. *J. Support.* Oncol. 3:209–17
- Todorov PT, Cariuk P, McDevitt T, Coles B, Fearon K, Tisdale M. 1996. Characterization of a cancer cachectic factor. *Nature* 379:739–42
- 154. Todorov PT, Deacon M, Tisdale MJ. 1997. Structural analysis of a tumorproduced sulfated glycoprotein capable of initiating muscle protein degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 272:12279–88
- 155. Todorov PT, McDevitt TM, Cariuk P, Coles B, Deacon M, Tisdale MJ. 1996. Induction of muscle protein degradation

- and weight loss by a tumor product. *Cancer Res.* 56:1256–61
- 156. Togni V, Ota CC, Folador A, Junior OT, Aikawa J, et al. 2003. Cancer cachexia and tumor growth reduction in Walker 256 tumor-bearing rats supplemented with N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids for one generation. Nutr. Cancer 46:52–58
- 157. Wang W, Iresjo BM, Karlsson L, Svanberg E. 2000. Provision of rhIGF-I/IGFBP-3 complex attenuated development of cancer cachexia in an experimental tumor model. Clin. Nutr. 19:127–32
- 158. Wickham RS, Rehwaldt M, Kefer C, Shott S, Abbas K, et al. 1999. Taste changes experienced by patients receiving chemotherapy. Oncol. Nurs. Forum 26:697–706
- Wouters EF. 2005. Local and systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proc. Am. Thorac. Soc.* 2:26–33
- Yarasheski KE. 2003. Exercise, aging, and muscle protein metabolism. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 58:M918–22
- 161. Yavuzsen T, Davis MP, Walsh D, LeGrand S, Lagman R. 2005. Systematic review of the treatment of cancerassociated anorexia and weight loss. J. Clin. Oncol. 23:8500–11
- 162. Yeh SS, DeGuzman B, Kramer T. 2002. Reversal of COPD-associated weight loss using the anabolic agent oxandrolone. Chest 122:421–28
- 163. Yeh SS, Hafner A, Schuster MW, Mantovani G, Levine DM, Parker TS. 2003. Relationship between body composition and cytokines in cachectic patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 51:890–91
- 164. Yeh SS, Schuster MW. 1999. Geriatric cachexia: the role of cytokines. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 70:183–97
- Zhang Y, Pilon G, Marette A, Baracos VE.
 2000. Cytokines and endotoxin induce cytokine receptors in skeletal muscle. Am.
 J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 279:E196–205



Contents

DIETARY FIBER: HOW DID WE GET WHERE WE ARE?, Martin Eastwood	1
and David Kritchevsky	1
DEFECTIVE GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS DURING INFECTION, Owen P. McGuinness	9
HUMAN MILK GLYCANS PROTECT INFANTS AGAINST ENTERIC PATHOGENS, David S. Newburg, Guillermo M. Ruiz-Palacios, and Ardythe L. Morrow	37
NUTRITIONAL CONTROL OF GENE EXPRESSION: HOW MAMMALIAN CELLS RESPOND TO AMINO ACID LIMITATION, M.S. Kilberg, YX. Pan, H. Chen, and V. Leung-Pineda	59
MECHANISMS OF DIGESTION AND ABSORPTION OF DIETARY VITAMIN A, Earl H. Harrison	87
REGULATION OF VITAMIN C TRANSPORT, John X. Wilson	105
THE VITAMIN K-DEPENDENT CARBOXYLASE, Kathleen L. Berkner	127
VITAMIN E, OXIDATIVE STRESS, AND INFLAMMATION, U. Singh, S. Devaraj, and Ishwarlal Jialal	151
UPTAKE, LOCALIZATION, AND NONCARBOXYLASE ROLES OF BIOTIN, Janos Zempleni	175
REGULATION OF PHOSPHORUS HOMEOSTASIS BY THE TYPE IIa Na/Phosphate Cotransporter, <i>Harriet S. Tenenhouse</i>	197
SELENOPROTEIN P: AN EXTRACELLULAR PROTEIN WITH UNIQUE PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND A ROLE IN SELENIUM	
HOMEOSTASIS, Raymond F. Burk and Kristina E. Hill	215
ENERGY INTAKE, MEAL FREQUENCY, AND HEALTH: A NEUROBIOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE, Mark P. Mattson	237
REDOX REGULATION BY INTRINSIC SPECIES AND EXTRINSIC NUTRIENTS IN NORMAL AND CANCER CELLS,	
Archana Jaiswal McEligot, Sun Yang, and Frank L. Meyskens, Jr.	261
REGULATION OF GENE TRANSCRIPTION BY BOTANICALS: NOVEL REGULATORY MECHANISMS, Neil F. Shay and William J. Banz	297

found at http://nutr.annualreviews.org/

POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACID REGULATION OF GENES OF LIPID METABOLISM, <i>Harini Sampath and James M. Ntambi</i>	317
SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS THAT INFLUENCE LIPID METABOLISM: INTERACTION WITH DIETARY FACTORS, Dolores Corella and Jose M. Ordovas	341
THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME: DEFINITION AND DIETARY APPROACHES TO TREATMENT, Gerald M. Reaven	391
DEVELOPMENTAL DETERMINANTS OF BLOOD PRESSURE IN ADULTS, Linda Adair and Darren Dahly	407
PEDIATRIC OBESITY AND INSULIN RESISTANCE: CHRONIC DISEASE RISK AND IMPLICATIONS FOR TREATMENT AND PREVENTION BEYOND BODY WEIGHT MODIFICATION, M.L. Cruz, G.Q. Shaibi, M.J. Weigensberg, D. Spruijt-Metz, G.D.C. Ball, and M.I. Goran	435
ANNUAL LIPID CYCLES IN HIBERNATORS: INTEGRATION OF PHYSIOLOGY AND BEHAVIOR, <i>John Dark</i>	469
DROSOPHILA NUTRIGENOMICS CAN PROVIDE CLUES TO HUMAN GENE—NUTRIENT INTERACTIONS, Douglas M. Ruden, Maria De Luca, Mark D. Garfinkel, Kerry L. Bynum, and Xiangyi Lu	499
THE COW AS A MODEL TO STUDY FOOD INTAKE REGULATION, Michael S. Allen, Barry J. Bradford, and Kevin J. Harvatine	523
THE ROLE OF ESSENTIAL FATTY ACIDS IN DEVELOPMENT, William C. Heird and Alexandre Lapillonne	549
Indexes	
Subject Index	573
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 21–25	605
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 21–25	608
Errata	
An online log of corrections to Annual Review of Nutrition chapters may be	